FILE COPY



HAROLD LEE WEAVER, Respondent below, Petitioner

No.) 20-0690 ٧.

BARBARA JO WEAVER,

Petitioner below, Respondent.

DO NOT REMOVE FROM FILE

PETITIONER'S BRIEF

Phillip S. Isner, #9399 David C. Fuellhart, # 12880 **Isner Law Office** PO Box 1878 Elkins, West Virginia 26241 (304) 636-7681 phil@isnerlaw.com david@isnerlaw.com Counsel for the Petitioner

ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

- The Circuit Court erred by upholding the Family's Court's ruling denying the
 Petitioner's Motion to Continue the final hearing in this action because the
 Petitioner was served with numerous Respondent's exhibits immediately prior
 to the Final Hearing.
- 2. The Circuit Court erred by upholding the Family's Court's ruling arbitrarily assigning values to the real property of the parties without competent evidence provided by either party as to the value of the property as of the date of separation.
- 3. The Circuit Court erred by upholding the Family's Court's ruling not permitting the Petitioner to testify regarding an appraisal of the real property described herein as "the restaurant."
- 4. The Circuit Court erred by upholding the Family's Court's ruling arbitrarily determining a date before which monies paid to the Respondent be designated as temporary spousal support and after which be designated as advanced equitable distribution payments. The Petitioner asserts that the date was arbitrarily determined and that payments made by the Petitioner should be considered as advanced equitable distribution payments, with the exception that \$350 should be designated as temporary spousal support.
- 5. The Circuit Court erred by upholding the Family's Court's ruling arbitrarily determining that an IRA of the Petitioner was entirely marital property instead of partially separate property. Additionally, the Circuit Court erred by upholding the Family's Court's ruling not subtracting monies paid by the Petitioner to the Respondent from the IRA from the marital portion of the IRA.

6. The Circuit Court erred by upholding the Family's Court's ruling awarding the Respondent attorney fees.

STATEMENT OF CASE

A Petition for Divorce was filed on or about 11 August 2017. A.R. p.1. Thereafter, the Petitioner herein filed an Answer and Counterclaim. A.R. p. 121. Based upon the agreement of the parties, an Agreed Temporary Order was entered on or about 29 September 2017. A.R. p. 135. Relevant to this Appeal, the Temporary Order provided that the Family Court would defer ruling on child support and spousal support and that the parties would continue paying recurring expenses as they had prior to and since their separation. The Family Court also ruled that the parties reserved the right to assert "Conrad Credits."

On or about 5 April 2018 a hearing was held. Following said hearing, the Family Court entered an Interim Order. A.R. v.2 p. 280. Relevant to this appeal, the Family Court ordered that the Petitioner continue to pay the Respondent the sum of three thousand five hundred (\$3500.00) dollars per month as that is what the Petitioner had previously been paying. The Family Court ordered that the Petitioner should use the one thousand (\$1,000.00) he began to receive from social security for the children of the parties to pay a portion of the \$3,500.00 so that he could take less money from his retirement account each month. The Family Court continued to defer ruling as to the classification of the money paid each month.

On or about 14 August 2018 the parties participated in mediation. An agreement was reached at mediation regarding all issues. However, at a hearing on 13 September 2018, the Respondent informed the Family Court that she was repudiating the Property

Settlement Agreement that was reached because of new information and because of allegations of undue pressure and lack of specificity. A.R. v.2 p. 284. The Petitioner informed the Family Court that he was willing to abide by the terms of the agreement. The Family Court did not enter the Property Settlement Agreement and set a Final Hearing.

Prior to the commencement of a Final Hearing, on or about 11 October 2018, the Respondent retained new counsel. A.R. v.2 p. 184. Following numerous delays, a Final Hearing occurred on or about 14 January 2019. A.R. v.2 p. 209.

Prior to evidence being presented, the Petitioner made a Motion to Continue the Final Hearing. A.R. v.2 p. 205. The basis of the motion was the late disclosure of approximately sixty pages worth of exhibits by the Respondent. Counsel for the Petitioner asserted that he received approximately sixty pages worth of exhibits from the Respondent at 12:37 a.m. the morning of the Final Hearing. Counsel stated that nineteen of those pages were received the day prior, but that counsel did not have adequate time to review and adequately prepare to respond to the voluminous late disclosure of exhibits. Vid.1 Time10:14.

Counsel for the Respondent argued that the late disclosure was one large demonstrative exhibit and that the Petitioner did not require additional time to review and respond to the same. The Family Court denied the Petitioner's motion to continue and gave leave to the Petitioner to object to the entry of the exhibits into evidence.

Each party testified but no additional witnesses were called. Relevant to the assignments or error alleged in this Appeal, and the issues associated with the same, the Respondent testified as follows¹:

- Regarding the value of the real property involved in the case, the Respondent testified as to the value of three distinct marital real properties:
 - a. Marital Home The Respondent testified that an appraisal was completed of the marital home in approximately 2007 and that the appraised value was \$205,000. Vid.1 Time10:38. The Respondent further testified that during the marriage she borrowed approximately \$185,000 against the marital home to assist in the construction costs of the restaurant. Vid.1 Time10:37. The Respondent testified that while additions and modifications were done on the marital home during the marriage, they were never complete and thus did not add any value to the home. Vid.1 Time 10:38.
 - b. The Restaurant The Respondent testified that, in addition to the \$185,000 construction loan, she purchased the restaurant for \$25,000. Vid.1 Time10:42. Also, the Respondent testified that an additional \$150,000 loan was taken out to assist in opening the restaurant. Vid.2 Time12:15. Additionally, the Family Court permitted the Respondent to testify regarding the value of numerous pieces of property without having an adequate basis for providing such values. The Family Court permitted such testimony and ruled that it would give weight to the

¹ Some assignments of error are purely legal in nature and thus the testimony of the parties is irrelevant.

testimony as deserved. For example, when asked about the value of car parts at the last marital residence, the Respondent gave a value of \$5,000 but testified that she has no idea how much they are actually worth and just guessed. Vid.2 Time12:52. The Family Court also permitted the Respondent to testify as to the value of many different vehicles, despite not knowing the year, make, model, or mileage of the vehicles. Permitting this testimony is relevant because despite the Family Court allowing this testimony from the Respondent, it did not permit the Petitioner to testify regarding an appraisal of the restaurant.

- c. Additional Real Property The Respondent testified that she believed the Petitioner purchased real property on or about 21 January 2017. Vid.1 Time10:45. She testified that she believes the Petitioner was residing on the property, and that the assessed value of the property according to tax receipts was \$117,000. Vid.1 Time10:47. However, the Family Court found this to be inaccurate and determined that the value of the property to be \$65,400.00 according to the tax receipts. A.R. v.2 p. 223.
- 2. Regarding the IRA at issue, the Respondent admitted on cross-examination that she believed that the Petitioner began work with a union in 1984 (this date is relevant as it is asserted by the Petitioner that monies began to be placed in the IRA at issue when he began work for the union). Vid.2 Time12:32. The Respondent also stated that she learned in the courtroom during a previous

- hearing that the monies paid to the Respondent by the Petitioner during the case were from the IRA. Vid.2 Time12:39.
- 3. Regarding the award of attorney fees, the Respondent testified that she believed that the Petitioner did not act in good faith during the proceedings and did not comply with certain discovery requests and disclosure requirements.
 Vid.1 Time11:44. No testimony was presented as to the factors used by the Family Court in determining whether an award of attorney fees is reasonable.

Following the testimony of the Respondent, the Petitioner presented his case and testified. The Petitioner provided the following relevant testimony regarding the assignments of error²:

- 1. Regarding the value of the real property involved in the case, the Petitioner testified as to the value of three distinct marital real properties:
 - a. Marital Home The Petitioner testified that numerous improvements were made to the marital home after the appraisal that was submitted into evidence by the Respondent. Vid.3 Time 2:53; 2:59. The Petitioner testified that the home was improved by adding a twenty-four by thirty-foot extension to the martial home. Vid.3 Time 2:54. The Petitioner testified that the parts and labor cost of the addition was approximately \$25,000. Vid.3 Time2:55.
 - b. The Restaurant –The Petitioner was not permitted to testify regarding and appraisal completed on the restaurant in or about 2005. Vid.3 Time3:05. The Petitioner testified that the appraisal, to the best of his

² Again, some assignments of error are purely legal and thus the testimony of the Respondent is irrelevant to those assignments.

recollection, valued the restaurant at \$450,000. Vid.3Time3:05. The Family Court should have permitted such testimony and given it the weight it deserved, similar to how the Family Court permitted the Respondent to testify regarding values. Additionally, the Respondent's objection to the testimony was based upon the "best evidence rule." The best evidence rule, or Rule 1002 of the West Virginia Rules of Evidence, applies only to the admission of copies of documents in the case that the original is not available. Here, the Petitioner was not attempting the admission of a copy of the appraisal, but only testifying regarding his memory of the appraisal. No other objections were lodged by the Respondent.

- c. Additional Real Property The Petitioner gave an estimate of \$40,000 for the valuation of the additional property based upon its poor condition as of the date of separation of the parties. Vid.3 Time2:52.
- 2. Regarding the IRA at issue, the Petitioner testified that he began work for a union in 1979 and that funds were placed in the IRA from that date. Vid.3 Time3:35. Petitioner testified that he was a part of the union for approximately twenty-four years prior to the date of the marriage. Vid.3 Time3:42.
- 3. Regarding the award of attorney fees, the Petitioner denied that he was uncooperative throughout the process. Additionally, Counsel for the Petitioner, in response to questions by the Respondent, objected to the characterization that the Petitioner did not fully disclose financial information by pointing out that all of the financial information was disclosed to the previous counsel of the

Respondent and that an agreement was reached with previous counsel but was later repudiated by the Respondent. Vid.4 Late 4:28-4:30.

Following the close of the Final Hearing, the Family Court entered a Final Order on 5 March 2020 with the following findings and conclusions relevant to this appeal³:

- 1. In Section 32, subsection I., the Family Court ruled that there was no evidence presented as to the value added to the marital home by the additions to the home. The Petitioner disagrees with this finding as the Petitioner testified that the addition added value based upon the amount of money spent on the addition, and the fact that the addition complied with required building codes and was thus complete. Vid.3 Time2:53-2:59. The Family Court should have considered this as evidence similarly to how the Family Court used the value of loans taken out for the opening of the restaurant in determining its value.
- 2. In section 32, subsection m. the Family Court assessed the value of the marital home at \$205,000. This valuation was based on an appraisal of the home made prior to the additions discussed herein. Because the appraisal of the home was made prior to the additions, no competent evidence was presented as to the value of the home at the time of separation. Therefore, the Petitioner disagrees with this finding and asserts that the home should have been sold.
- 3. In section 33, subsection j., the Family Court assessed the value of the restaurant at \$185,000. This assessment was arbitrary and the Family Court did not provide any specific reasoning for reaching this valuation. Additionally,

³ The findings and conclusions listed hereafter are not an exhaustive list of the findings and conclusions that the Respondent disagrees with, but is a compilation of the most relevant and egregious findings. The Respondent reserves the right at oral argument, or in any future proceeding, to assert additional arguments as to other findings and conclusions.

- the Petitioner was prevented from testifying regarding an appraisal conducted of the restaurant. Vid.3Time3:05. The Petitioner disagrees with this finding as no competent evidence was presented regarding the value of the restaurant, and thus the restaurant should have been ordered sold.
- 4. In section 34, subsection j., the Family Court found that the Petitioner offered no evidence or statement as to the value of the additional real estate. The Petitioner disagrees with this finding as he testified that he believed the value to be \$40,000. Vid.3 Time2:52.
- 5. In section 34, subsection n., the Family Court valued the additional real estate at \$65,400 based upon the county tax receipts. The Petitioner disagrees with this finding and asserts that property tax receipts are not competent evidence relating to the fair market value of real property. Therefore, the Petitioner asserts that this property should have been sold.
- 6. In section 36, subsection i., the Family Court found that no evidence was presented that the Petitioner used funds from the IRA to pay his monthly obligation to the Respondent. This finding is incorrect as the Respondent testified that she learned that the Petitioner used the IRA to pay his monthly obligation, and her testimony is considered evidence. Vid.2 Time12:39. Additionally, in a previous order of the Family Court, the Family Court acknowledged that the Petitioner had used funds from the IRA to pay his monthly obligation.
- 7. In section 36, subsection j., the Family Court stated that West Virginia case law states that a party claiming a separate component to an asset must bring forth

- evidence of the same, and that assets are presumed to be marital. The cases cited by the Family Court in this subsection are distinguishable from the instant case, and the summary of the law in this subsection is clearly erroneous. Therefore, the Petitioner disagrees with this conclusion.
- 8. In section 36, subsection k., the Family Court concluded that the Petitioner had failed to meet his burden of proof that part of the IRA was separate property. The Petitioner asserts that first, the case law providing this burden of proof is inapplicable to the instant case; and second, that even if that burden of proof applies the Petitioner met said burden by testifying that he had began receiving funds in the IRA in 1979. Further, the Respondent testified that she believed the Petitioner began work at a union in 1984 the union that provided the funds for the IRA. Therefore, the Petitioner disagrees with this conclusion.
- 9. In section 36, subsection I., the Family Court found that the entirety of the IRA was marital property. The Petitioner disagrees with the finding for the reasons stated above, said reasons will be explained in further detail below.
- 10. In section 49, subsection a., the Family Court made findings that the Respondent was unable to pay her own attorney fees. The Petitioner disagrees with this finding, and argues that the Family Court was not provided any specific evidence that the Respondent was unable to pay her attorney fees. Additionally, the Petitioner had been paying the Respondent thousands of dollars each month for a period of over two years, and asserts that the claim that the Respondent is unable to pay her attorney fees as disingenuous.

- 11. In section 49, subsection c., the Family Court made findings the Respondent continually experiencing a monthly deficit. The Petitioner asserts that the Family Court did not have sufficient evidence to make such a determination. Additionally, the Respondent testified that she has a monthly vehicle payment of \$778. The Petitioner finds it disingenuous that an individual able to pay nearly \$800 per month for a vehicle is in a difficult financial situation.
- 12. In section 49, subsection d., the Family Court found that the Respondent is having difficulty meeting her needs. For the reasons discussed above, the Petitioner disagrees with this finding.
- 13. In section 49, subsection f., the Family Court found that the attorney fee request by the Respondent was reasonable. For the reasons discussed above (which will be explained in more detail below) the Petitioner disagrees with this finding.
- 14. In section 51, the Family Court awarded the Respondent attorney fees based upon an incorrect analysis of the relevant factors, and based upon the alleged lack of cooperation by the Petitioner. The Petitioner disagrees with this finding.
- 15. In section 52, the Family Court awarded the Respondent \$6,440 in attorney fees to be paid by the Respondent. For the reasons discussed herein, the Petitioner disagrees with this finding.
- 16. In section 53 and 54, the Family Court ruled that the funds paid to the Respondent by the Petitioner throughout the pendency of the case would be designated at temporary spousal support prior to 1 March 2019, and would be designated as advanced payments of equitable distribution after 1 March 2019.

- The Petitioner disagrees with these findings as the 1 March 2019 date was arbitrary and the Family Court provided no reasoning for choosing said date.
- 17. The Petitioner disagrees with order "N." in the Family Court's order as the Petitioner disagrees with the way equitable distribution was determined.
- 18. The Petitioner disagrees with order "R." in the Family Court's order as the Petitioner disagrees that any equalization payment should have been required.
- 19. The Petitioner disagrees with order "W." in the Family Court's order relating to the designation of monies paid for the reasons stated herein.
- 20. The Petitioner disagrees with order "AA." in the Family Court's order relating to the designation of monies paid for the reasons stated herein.

On or about 29 May 2020 the Petitioner filed a Petition for Appeal to the Circuit Court of Barbour County, West Virginia (meeting the deadline for appeal because of the Judicial Emergency). A.R. v.2 p. 258. The Respondent filed a Respondent and an Appeal of her own on or about 17 June 2020. The Circuit Court entered an Order Denying the Appeal on or about 11 August 2020. A.R. v.2 p.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

As to each assignment of error, the Petitioner provides the following summaries to clarify the specific issues before the Court.

1. Denial of Motion to Continue

The Circuit Court erred by upholding the Family's Court's ruling denying the Petitioner's Motion to Continue on the date of the Final Hearing. The Petitioner made the motion on the basis that he had received approximately sixty pages worth of exhibits the

day before and on the morning of the Final Hearing. The late disclosure prevented the Petitioner from having the opportunity to fully review the exhibits prior to the Final Hearing. This caused the Petitioner extreme prejudice, and denied the Petitioner the right of a fair Final Hearing.

2. Valuation of Real Property

The Circuit Court erred by upholding the Family's Court's ruling assigning values to three pieces of real property at issue. The three pieces of real property at issue were: the last marital residence, a restaurant that was purchased during the marriage, and additional real property that was purchased during the marriage. Petitioner is not disputing that the three pieces of real property are all marital, but is arguing that the Family Court valued each piece of real property with a different method, that the valuations were not based on the evidence presented, and that no competent evidence was presented by either party to determine value as of the date of separation, so the properties should have been sold.

3. Testimony regarding value of the Restaurant

The Circuit Court erred by upholding the Family's Court's ruling refusing to allow testimony from the Petitioner regarding an appraisal that was completed on the restaurant. The Family Court erred for multiple reasons, including that the objection made by the Respondent, and sustained by the Family Court, was an incorrect interpretation of the law. The Respondent objected to the testimony based on the "best evidence" rule; however, the best evidence rule did not apply to the situation at hand. Additionally, the Family Court permitted the Respondent to testify regarding the values of numerous pieces of property without sufficient knowledge to provide such testimony, but denied the

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