PROCEDURAL HISTORY
STANDARD OF REVIEW3
STATEMENT OF FACTS
SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT 12
STATEMENT REGARDING ORAL ARGUMENT AND DECISION
ARGUMENT
I. THE CIRCUIT COURT PROPERLY UPHELD THE FAMILY COURT'S DENIAL OF THE PETITIONER HUSBAND'S MOTION TO CONTINUE MADE ON THE MORNING OF THE TRIAL
PROPERTY14 III. THE CIRCUIT COURT PROPERLY AFFIRMED THE FAMILY COURT RULING REGARDING THE PETITIONER'S TESTIMONY OF THE
APPRAISAL OF THE RESTAURANT
CONCLUSION23
CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE24

#### PROCEDURAL HISTORY

Barbara Jo Weaver, Respondent herein, (hereinafter "Wife"), filed a Petition for Divorce on August 14th, 2017. The Petitioner herein, (hereinafter "Husband") filed a Response and Counterclaim on or about September 27, 2017. The Respondent filed a Response to the Counterclaim on October 4, 2017. The Court conducted many temporary and interim hearings to address issues of parenting and other temporary matters. The Court entered four scheduling orders attempting to conclude this matter but each time the trial was continued. The matter finally came on for a Final Trial on January 14th and January 16th, 2019. The Court resolved the parenting issues on January 14th, 2019 and heard the remaining issues on January 16th, 2019. The parties submitted Proposed Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law and the Family Court took the matter under advisement. By Order entered on March 5, 2020, the Family Court entered its 44-page final order. The Petitioner Husband herein appealed the matter to the Circuit Court. The Circuit Court affirmed by the Family Court decision by order entered on August 11, 2020. It is from this order that the Petitioner Husband appeals.

#### STANDARD OF REVIEW

"In reviewing a final order entered by a circuit court judge upon a review of, or upon a refusal to review, a final order of a family court judge, we review the findings of fact made by the family court judge under the clearly erroneous standard, and the application of law to the facts under an abuse of discretion standard. We review questions of law de novo." Syl. pt. 1, Hornbeck v. Caplinger, 227 W.Va. 611, 712 S.E.2d 779 (2011); syl. pt. 1, Palmer v. Justice, 227 W.Va. 424, 710 S.E.2d 526 (2011).

#### STATEMENT OF FACTS

The parties were married in Barbour County, West Virginia on or about April 12, 2003.

(App. 1, 1)The parties last lived together and cohabited as husband and wife in Barbour County on or about August 11, 2017. Id. The Wife, Barbara Weaver filed a Petition for Divorce with the Family Court of Barbour County, West Virginia on or about August 11, 2017. Id. On or about

September 27, 2017, the Husband, Harold L. Weaver, filed a Response and Counter Petition.

(App. 1, 121). A Response to the Counter-Petition for Divorce was filed on or about October 4, 2017. (App. 1, 138). The parties admitted irreconcilable differences as the ground for divorce.

(App. 1, 1). Two children were born of this marriage namely, Mercedes Brook Weaver, born February 8, 2003 and Porsche Arianna Weaver, born February 8, 2003. (App. 1, 1).

The Wife filed a financial statement on or about August 11<sup>th</sup>, 2017 and filed supplements thereafter. (App. 1, 98). The Husband filed a financial statement with the Court on or about September 27, 2017 and the same was not amended or supplemented. (App. 1, 125). Extensive discovery was attempted, with the Wife sending two sets of discovery requests to the Husband. (App. 1, 141; 2, 329). The Husband responded minimally to the first set of discovery, and he provided no responses to the second set of discovery requests. (App. 2, 329). On January 14<sup>th</sup>, 2019, the parties and the Guardian ad Litem for the minor children, Cheryl LaNasa, came before the Court and resolved the parenting issues. The parties then appeared for a final hearing on all remaining issues in this action on January 16<sup>th</sup>, 2019, wherein the Court heard the testimony of the parties and received evidence regarding the parties' financial issues. (vid. 1,2,3 & 4).

#### **REAL ESTATE**

EAST MARITAL RESIDENCE: The parties testified as to their ownership in real estate including the last marital residence. The Wife owned the home prior to the marriage to the Husband with the deed to the home being solely in her name at the time of her marriage. The home was her family property. (Supp. App. 1). Additionally, her sole ownership of the home had survived a prior divorce action. (Supp. App. 3). On or about August 11, 2005, the parties purchased real estate to start a restaurant called, Barb's Restaurant (Supp. App. 27). The business property was purchased for \$25,000.00 with a credit card. Id. The parties then

borrowed money to purchase the equipment needed to start the business. (Vid. No. 1 -24:25-24:37). A short time later, additional funds were needed to complete the startup, but the assets associated with the business were not sufficient to borrow the additional funds. (Vid. No. 1 - 24:25-24:37). The only way for the parties to borrow the necessary funds was to use the last marital residence, which was the separate property of the Wife, as collateral. (Vid. No. 1 -24:40-24:47). As Husband's income was substantially greater than the Wife's income, the bank required that his name be placed on the real estate and the loan. (Vid. No. 1 -24:51-25:05). Therefore, on or about October 5, 2007, a deed was made which conveyed the property known as the last marital residence to both the Wife and the Husband. This asset which had been the separate asset of Wife was valued at the time of the transfer at \$205,000 based on the appraisal performed for Citizens National Bank. (Supp. App. 5). The Wife argued that she contributed a separate asset worth \$205,000.00 to the marital estate to enable the parties to maintain and support of the marital business which should be considered in the equitable distribution pursuant to West Virginia Code 48-7-103.

The Husband offered no appraisal or other support to reflect the value of the real estate. (App. 2, 329). (Vid. No. 4-46:15). The Wife offered the last appraisal and testified that although some improvements were started, they were not yet completed. (Vid. No. 1-25:50-26:50). Therefore, she believed the value of the home was less than the appraisal due to its current state. (Vid. No. 1-27:10-27:30). The Wife requested that the Court reduce the value of the home to \$160,000.00 to reflect the separate monies/assets that she contributed to the marriage as described herein. (Vid. No. 1-27:30-28:22). The Court refused and instead used the appraised value as it was the only value supported by the evidence.

**RESTAURANT:** The parties also owned a restaurant property located at 56

Morgantown Pike, Belington, West Virginia as mentioned above. The property was purchased on or about August 11<sup>th</sup>, 2005 for \$25,000.00 using a credit card. (Vid. No. 1 -30:36). The evidence was uncontradicted that the bank refused to lend additional funds against business value as the value was not great enough to support the same. (Vid. No. 1 – 24:46-24:47). The debt owed by Barb's restaurant as of the date of separation was \$55,984.44. (Vid. No. 1 – 1:19:10). The Court heard the testimony and reviewed the purchase documents (Supp. App. 27), the lending documents and the testimony and concluded that the value of the restaurant was \$185,000.00.

HUSBAND'S SECRET REAL ESTATE: The Husband testified that he purchased real estate through a liquidation sale on or about January 21st, 2017, the same consisting of 2 lots with a residence thereon. (See Exhibit 3A, 3C). He testified that he purchased the same secretly without the Wife s knowledge and then transferred the same or caused them to be conveyed into the name of his son, Jayden Lee Weaver. (Supp. App. 28). He testified that he paid for these properties. (Vid. No. 4- 30:26). He further testified that he resides on said property and has since the parties' separation. He testified that his son, Jayden Weaver, resides in Harrison County, West Virginia, not Taylor County, West Virginia, where the property lies. (Vid. No. 4- 50:12). He testified that he did not tell the Wife as it was none of her business'. (Vid. No. 4- 30:26). He also could not explain why he had failed to list the same in his financial disclosures filed with the Court, even under the section where one lists the assets transferred within the last five years. Id. The Husband testified that he purchased the real estate and then made significant improvements to said real estate. Id. Based on the testimony of the Husband, it is clear he made said improvements using improperly removed funds or secreted funds from the marital estate

during the ongoing ligation in this case. Id. The Husband offered no evidence or statement to establish the value of the real estate. (App. 2, 329). The Wife submitted the tax appraisal from the Barbour County Assessor's Office, which reflected that the home and lot had an appraised value of \$117,000.00 (Supp. App. 37). The Husband admitted that he purchased said real estate at a liquidation sale. (Vid. No. 4- 30:17). Accordingly, the purchase price of the real estate does not reflect the fair market value. Furthermore, the Husband did not list any real estate other than the marital home" and listed no assets as conveyed to others in the financial statement filed by him with the Court. (App. 2, 329) (Vid. No. 4-15:12). No supplements or amendments were ever filed with the Court by the Husband. Id. The Court found the value of the home was \$65,400.00.

#### FINANCIAL ACCOUNTS

were contemplating getting a divorce until the date of the final divorce hearing. However, based on the appeal the only issue before this Court is the IRA. During the marriage, the Husband had several retirement and pension accounts. The evidence showed that on or about August 26<sup>th</sup>, 2016, the Husband and Wife transferred the sum and amount of \$325,978.21 from the Husband s Transamerica of the IBEW Local Union No. 126 Retirement Plan into an IRA at Freedom Bank (Supp. App. 59). Wife was named the 100% beneficiary on said account. Id. This transfer was agreed upon by the parties to avoid any tax consequences in the distribution of the funds. The parties then jointly agreed to withdrawal \$60,000.00 from the account. (Vid. No. 1 – 42:50). Forty Thousand Dollars of the funds were deposited into a Certificate of Deposit located at Freedom Bank which was then used as collateral for a loan (Supp. App. 41). Twenty Thousand Dollars was the placed into two different bank accounts: Ten Thousand Dollars into each account

(Supp. App. 41). The Forty Thousand Dollars Certificate of Deposit was cashed in, with the joint agreement of the parties, to satisfy the debt held against it. (Vid. No. 1 – 41:31). Each party was given the funds from the net proceeds to cover the payments made by each party since the loan was obtained (Supp. App. 41). Id. Therefore, this asset has been resolved. The two accounts with Ten Thousand Dollars each were used to purchase various items of personal property and to put siding on the restaurant property. (App. 2, 226). The remaining funds were included in other bank accounts.

Thereafter, the evidence showed that on or about April 12<sup>th</sup>, 2017, unbeknownst to the

Wife, the Husband moved the IRA account to a different bank, namely Citizens Bank of West Virginia (sum and amount of \$259,358.62 taking substantial penalties thereon) and changed the beneficiary to 50% to the Wife and 50% to Jayden Weaver (Supp. App. 69, 93). The Husband then withdrew monies from said account for various purchases including improvements on real estate that he had purchased and placed large sums of money in the son s bank account. (Vid. No. 4- 27:02). When the Respondent was asked about a particular group of withdrawals which total \$139,000.00, he admitted that he had withdrawn the monies and that he used much of the money to remodel the home where he currently resides and spent at least \$20,000.00 on gifts he purchased for the children. Id. The Court also noted that he did pay the Wife a stipend during the course of this case, as child support and spousal support. The Husband claimed that he used the monies from the IRA to pay said amounts to the Wife, but the Husband offered no evidence to support the same. The Wife admitted that he had also stated he was using the money from the IRA in a prior proceeding, but again no proof or documentation was ever provided.

The Husband claims that some portion of the IRA is his separate asset acquired prior to marriage. No evidence was offered by the Respondent regarding the IRA. (App. 2, 329). The

evidence supported that the Wife tried on multiple occasions to obtain documentation regarding Husband's retirement accounts but was unsuccessful. (Vid. No. 4-20:31). During cross examination, the Husband testified that if he had known it was important, he would have obtained documents regarding his retirements. (Vid. No. 4-1:00:39). He later testified that he thought his counsel was working to obtain the documents and that he was present during mediation when efforts had been made to obtain the information. However, no witnesses were subpoenaed to address this issue from the Local Union, no evidence of any kind was offered to support the separate component of the retirement, if any. The monies had been moved, withdrawn, transferred, had taxes and penalties assessed all since they were removed from the original holder. No evidence was offered herein to establish a separate component to the assets. No evidence was shown reflecting the gains and losses on the accounts during the marriage. No evidence was offered by the Husband to reflect as to when or how any contributions were made. Furthermore, the Husband withdrew the funds, placing them in an account and then took action to move them again, finally withdrawing, most if not all the money. Failing to offer any documentation or evidence to support the same, combined with the Husband's actions around the time of separation and during the court action made it impossible for the Court not to conclude that all the financial assets, including annuities and retirements, were marital assets in their entirety

The Husband again failed to properly disclose the marital and separate financial accounts. In his Financial Statement filed with the court, he listed a checking account containing \$18,000.00 and one savings account containing \$40,000.00, without any specification. (App. 1, 127). The Husband listed an IRA with \$120,000.00 in it and a whole life insurance policy with a value of \$500,000.00. Id. Clearly based on the evidence, these accounts and amounts were not

accurate. He did not list any other retirement accounts, although he admitted to other accounts during his cross examination. When asked whether he sought to obtain information regarding these retirement accounts, he testified that no one asked him to get it, so he did not. The disregard of the Court s order for disclosure and supplement of disclosures, considering this case had been ongoing for 17 months, created problems for the Wife and the Court.

When asked where all the secreted money had been deposited that had been withdrawn from the bank accounts, cashed from his pay checks, and from the IRA, the Husband testified that he had given most of it to his son who was his executor. Clearly the Husband disregarded the constructive trust and his fiduciary responsibilities toward his spouse.

#### **VEHICLES**

The Wife offered evidence as to values for the various vehicles owned by the parties (Supp. App. 102-111). The Husband admitted that he did not disclose the vehicles in his ———— Financial Statement nor were they disclosed during discovery. (Vid. No. 14 – 15:38). The Husband offered no evidence at all as to the vehicles or their values. (Vid. No. 4 - 44:51). The testimony showed that the Husband has transferred some of the vehicles to others including his son, without disclosing the same to the Court. He only listed that the parties had an interest in four vehicles at a value of \$54,000.00. (App. 1, 127). Yet when he testified that the parties owned many more vehicles that he had not disclosed. (Vid. No. – 15:38).

In reviewing the financial disclosures of the parties, it is evident that the Wife made every effort to disclose all assets and debts, even to the extent that the Husband used the Wife s exhibits to establish the values of the assets and debts. The Husband failed to provide full disclosure. He testified that although he signed a verified Financial Statement, he did not ensure that the information was true; he admitted that he did not list all the assets and admitted that he

did not make efforts to obtain values of said assets.

#### ALIMONY

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